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UNITED STATES'DISETICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT O

\ : Jun‘e 2005 Grand Jur¥07 CR 0350 LAB

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, y Criminal Case No.

CALIFORNIA

Plaintiff,

Title 18, U.S.C., Sec. 371 -
Conspiracy; Title 18, U.S.C.,
Secs. 1343 and 1346 - Honest
Services Wire Fraud; Title 18,
U.S.C., Sec. 201 - Bribery of a
Public Official; Title 18, U.S.C.,
Secs. 1956 and 1957 - Money
Laundering; Title 18, U.S.C.,

Sec. 1503 - Obstruction of Justice;
Title 18, U.S.C., Sec. 2 - Aiding
and Abetting; Title 18, U.S.C.,
Sec. 982 - Criminal Forfeiture

V.

BRENT ROGER WILKES (1),
JOHN THOMAS MICHAEL (2),

Defendants.

B R e P L W N o e N

Thé grand jury charges:
INTRODUCTORY ALLEGATIONS

At all times material to this Indictment:

1. Defendant BRENT ROGER WILKES was . the President and

controlling owner of ADCS, Inc. (“ADCS”), a California corporation.

ADCS’'s corporate offices were located at 13970 stowe Drive, Poway,
California 92064 and 15092 Avenue of Science, San Diego, California
92128', and - its ‘federal ‘contrééting office was . located at
14020 Tﬁunderbol; Place, Suite 200, Chantilly; Virginia 20151.
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2. ADCS’s name was derived from the'Government acronym for the
Automated Document Conversion System Program (“Document Conversion
Program”), which was implemented by the’Department of Defense (“DoD”).
As . its néme' suééests, AbCS's principal business involved _thé
conversion of paper records into electronic form. Due to its business
model, the cnmpany was entirely dependent oniobtaining United States
government contracts to ensure its economic vianility.

3. In addition to ADCS, defendant WILKES formed a large number
6f related entities, inciuding‘but not limited to:»Wilkes Corporation;
Al Dust Properties.Inc.} WBR Equities, LLC. (“WBR Equities”); Group
W Advisors Inc.; Group W Events; Group W Holdings Inc.; Group W Media
Productions Inc.; Group W Transportation Inc.; Group W Outfitters;
ADCS International;‘ADCS Inc. PAC; Wilkes PAC; and Archer Defense.

4., Among the government contracts secured by ADCS were projects
related to: (1) the Document Conversion Program; (2) the Facilities,
Infrastructure énd Engineering System (“FIRES”) progrém, which was

initially operated out of the National Ground Intelligence Center

("NGIC”), and later the Joint Counter-Intelligence Assessment Group
(“JCAG”) - a DoD intelligencé‘component; (3) the Global Infrastructure
Data Capture (“GIDC”) Program, which eventually came to be.

administered by the Counterintelligence FieldlActiVity (*CIFA"); and
(4) the <Critical Infrastructure Protection Operations Center
{“CIPOC”) .

5. .Coconspiratorv Mitchell John Wade (charged elsewhere)
(hereinafter “coconspirator Wade”) was the majority owner and
president of M2ZM, Inc. (heneinafter fMZM”);‘a Nevada corporation.
MZM's headquarters were located at 1523 New Haﬁpshire'Avenue, N.W.,

Washington, D.C. 20036.
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6. Béginnihg in or about July 1998, MZM entered into a
contractual agreement to provide consulting services to ADCS. Apart
from this consulting agreemépt, MZM dérived its revenues almost
éntirely as a United States éovernment contractor.

7. Among the numerous governm;pt contracts se;ured by MzZM were |
projects related to the: (1) .GIDC; and (2) the Defense Joint Counter-
Intelligence Deéeption ‘Program (“*Counterintelligence Deception

Program”), which was operated out of JCAG, and later was referred to

‘as the Mission Response Groups (“MRGs”) program.

8. Coconspirator Randall Harold Cunningham, aka Randy  “Duke”
Cunningham (éharged elsewhere) (hereihafter_ “coconspirator
Cunningham”) was a Member of the UnitedA States House of

'Representatives for Congressional Districts located in San Diego

County, within the Southern District of California.

9. At various times, coconspirator Cunningham was a member of
the House Appropriations Committee (“HAC”) and the House Permanent
'Select Committee on Intelligence (“HPSCI”). He also served as the

Chairman of the House Intelligence Subcommittee on Human Intelligence
Analysis and Counterintelligence.

10. Coconspirator No. 3 was the president and controlling

‘officer of a financial company (“Financial Company ‘A’”) located in

Rosedale, New York.

11. Defendant JOHN THOMAS MICHAEL was the president and minority

owner of Coastal Capital Corporation (“Coastal Capital”), a New York-
based mdrtgage banker. - Coastél Capital’s offices are located., at
1 Plaza,Roéd, Greenvale, New York 22548. The majority owner of

Coastal Capital was a daughter of coconspirator No. 3.
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12. From on or about January .20, 1988, 'until on or about
November 20, 2003, cOconspirator‘Cunningham 6wned a house located on
Mercado Drive ih Del Mar, California (the,“Del Mar Home”). In or
about late November.2003, coconspirator Cunningham sold the Del Mar
Home to 1523 New Haﬁpéhire Ave., LLC (a Nevada corporation controlled
by coconspirator wéde),”and purchased a house located on Via del
Charfo in Rancho Santa Fe, California (the “Rancho Santa Fe Home"”).

13. From on or about Novemberl30, 2001, until on or about
March 8, 2004, coconspirator Cunningham owned a condominium located
at 1211 Eads Street South, 'Unit 2002, Arlingﬁon, Virginia (the
“Arlington; Virginia condominium"); ‘

14. Coconspirator Cunninghaﬁ was the registered owner of the
“Kelly C, " a 65—foo; yacht and the “Sea Cove,” a 33' Chris Craft power
boa;. Among pthe{ locations, he utilized docking facilities at the
Capital Yaéht Ciub,lldoo Water Street, SW, Washington, D.C., the
Washington Marina, 1300 Maine Avenue, SW, Washingﬁon, D.C., and the
Gangplank Marina, 600 Water Street, SW,‘Washington, D.C., for his
vessels.

15. Coconspirator Cunningham. owned and operated . Top Gun
Enterprises, Inc., a California'corporation‘based in San Diego County,
Caiifornia.' Top Gun Enterprises, Inc.'’s business address was P.0O. Box
45201, San Diego, California 92145.

16. On or aboﬁt August 30, 2002, coconspirator Wade became the
registéred owner of a 42-foot yacht that was then named the “Buoy
Toy.”: From in or about Fall 2002, through in or about Spring 2005,
the boat (officially fenamed the “Duke-Stir” on January 21, 2003) was
docked in coconspirator Cunningham’s élip at the Capital Yacht Club,

1000 Water Street, SW, Washington, D.C.

4




W [ ] [ aeud

10
11
12
13
14

15

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Case 3:07-cr-00330-LAB  Document 1  Filed 02/13/2007  Page 5 of 42

Count 1
CONSPIRACY
(Defendant WILKES)
17. Beginning at least as early as 1996, and continuing through
at least August 12, 2005, within the Southern District of California
and elsewhere, defendan£ BRENT ROGER WILKES did knowingly and
intentionally conspire and agree with coconspirators Cunninghém and
Wade, and with others knoWﬂ and unknown to the Grand.Jury; to commit
the following offenses against the United Statés:

a. Honest Services Wire Fraud, in violation of Title 18,
United Stétes Code, Sections 1343 and 1346, that is, devising a
material scheme to defraud the United States and its citizens of their
right to coconspiraﬁor Cunningham’s honest services, includihg their
right to his loyal, faithful, disinterestéd, unbiased sefvice, to be
performéd free of deceit, undue influence, conflict‘of interest, self-
enrichmeht, self-dealing, concealment, fraud, and corruption, and in’
furtherance thereof, transmitting and caﬁsing to ‘be transmitted in
interstate commerce by means of wire communicationé, certain writings,

signs, signals and sounds; ' ;

‘ b. Bribery of a Public Official, in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 201(b) (1) (A), that is, corruptly giving;
offering and promising an item of value to coconspirator Cunningham,
a Memberlof the United States angress, with the intent to influence
his official acts;

c. Money.Laundering, in violation of Title 18,‘United

States Céde, Section 1956(a) (1) (B) (i), that is, knowingly conducting-

‘and attempting to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate

commerce, knowing that the transaction involved the proceeds of some

5
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form of unlawful activity, which, in fact, involved Honest Services
Wire Fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343
and 1346, and Bribery of a Publié Official in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section'ZOl(b)(l)(A), and knowing that'each

transaction was designed in whole or in part to conceal and disguise

the nature, location, source, ownership, and control of the proceeds

i

of said Specified Uniawful Activities;

d.. Money Laundering, 'in biolation of Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1956.(a)(1)(A)(i), that is, knowingly cohducting\
and.attempting'to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate
commerce, kﬁowing that the transactions involved the proceeds of some
form of unlawful activity, which, in fact, .involved Honest Séryices
Wire Fraud in violation oflTitle 18, United States Code, Sections 1343
and 1346, and Bribery of a Publiclofficial in violation of Title 18,
United States Cdde, Settion 201(b)(l)(A),.with the intent to promote
the carrying'on of said Specified Unlawful Activities; and

e, Engaging in Monetary Transactions in Property Derived
from Specified Unlawful Activity, in violation of Title 18, United
States Cddec Séction 1957, that ié, knowingly engaging and attempting
to engage in monetary transactions by, through, or to a financial
institution, affecting interstate and foreign commerce, in criminally
derived property of a value greater than $10,000,-suchjproperty having
been derived from a Specified Unlawful Activity, that is, Honest
Services Wire Fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 1343 and 1346, and Bribery of a Public Official in violation

of Title 18, United States Code, 201(b) (1) (A).
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METHODS AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY
18. In -furtherance of this conspiracy, defendant WILKES and
coconspirators Cunningham, -Wade, énd others utilized the following
methods and means, - among others:

a. Defendant WILKEé provided to coconsbirator Cunningham
more than $700,000 in payments, perquisites, and beﬁefits, including
cash, checks, meals, limousine service, cofporate jet travel, lodging,
furnishings, boats "and marine equipment, prostitution services,
vacations, and entertainment;

| b. Coconspiratqr Wade provided to coconspirator Cunningham
more than $1.3 million in payments, ﬁerquisites, and benefits,
including éash, .checks; meals, travel, lodging, furnishings, antiques,
~ru§s, yacht club fees, boat repairs, moving expenses, cars, and boats;

c. Coconspirator No 3 proﬁided coconspirator Cunningham
with a substantial bribe by purchasing a yacht from Curiningham at an
above-market priée, which was transmitted, in part, through a $200,000
down payment‘ on Cunningham’s Arlington, Virginia condominium;

d. Coconspirator Cunningham agreed to use his public
office and to take other official vaction to influence the United
States Congress’s authorization and vappropriations of funds in a
.mann.er that would benefit defendant WILKES (and ADCS) and|
coconspirator Wade (and MZM); | |

e. "Coconspirator Cunningham agreed to use his public
office and.to take other official action to influence both the
awarding and the execution of government contracts in a manner that
would benefit défendant WILKES (and ADCS) and coéon-spirator Wade (and

"MZM) ;
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f. Coconspirator No. 3 and Defendant MICHAEL agreed to
allow coconspirator'Cunningham to use Coastal Capital and Financial
Company "A” to facilitate the payment of‘bribes;

g. Coconspirator Cunningham attempted to conceal and
disguise thé improper payments and benefits through various means,
including having coconspirator Wade pay for goods and services to be
enjoyéd by Cunningham, including those described above, and ehgaging
in transactions in whiéh Cunningham_sold assets to Wade at above-
market -prices or ‘purchased assets from Wade at below-market prices;

h. Defendant WILKES attempted to conceal and disguise the

‘bribes to coconspirator Cunningham by having WILKES pay for goods and

ser&ices to be enjoyed by Cunningham, including those describéd above,
and disguising payments by purporting to purchaée a yacht owned by
Cuﬁningham, and by purporting to make investmenﬁs throﬁgh Finaﬁcial
Company “A”;

i. Coconspirator Cunningham also attempted to conceal and
disguise the conspiraéy' by intentionally failing to include the
paymeﬁts, - perquisites, and othef benefits received from ‘his
coconspirators on Financial Disclosure Statements he submitted to the
United States House of Representatives;

j. Defendant WILKES also attempted to conceal and disQuise

the conspiracy by falsely testifying under oath that he had not given

gifts to coconspirator Cunningham;

k. Defendant MICHAEL also attempted to conceal and

‘disguise the conspiracy by providing false testimony and docﬁments to

the grand jury.
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OVERT ACTS
19. It was furthe; part of this conspiracy, and to effect the
objects thereof,.defendaht.WILKES and coconspirators Cunningham, Wade,
and others committed, and caused to be committed, the following acts,
amdng others, within the Southern District of California 'énd
elsewhere: |

1. Béginning at least as early as September 1996,
defendant WILKES purchased thousands of dollars in meals for
coconspirator Cunningham at The Capital Grille and other restaurants,
including but not limited to The Palm, Ozio’s, P.F. Chang’s, Mr. K's,
Serbian Crown Restauranﬁ, and the Confucius Café;

2. On or aboﬁt September 25, 1996, coconspirator
Cunningham informed the Deputy Under Secretary of Defense (Logistics)
that he wanted the DoD Document Conversion Program funded;

3. Beginning in or about 1997, defendant WILKES‘paid
Shirlington Limousine for trénsporting.coconspirator'Cunniﬁghanlaround
Washington, D.C.; | | |

4. On or about July 30, 1997, defendant WILKES directed
an ADCS employee to purchase froﬁ Coléman Power Sports in Falls
Church, Virginia, a 14'6", fibergiass hulled, yellow‘Sea—Doo Speedster-
(serial number .CECBO43L697) costing $11,255 for coconspirator
Cunningham’s possession and use;

5. On or about April‘13, 1998, defendant WILKES caused
ADCS to issue a check (no. 3930) in the>amount of $721.60 to péy Blue
Danube Cofporate Support for their services qatering a “Congressional”
dinner, which included coconspirator Cunningham;

6. On or about May 14, 1998, coconspirator Cunningham

filed a United States House of Representatives Financial Disclosure

9
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Statement for Calendar Year 1997, which improperly failed to list all
payments and.benefits‘réceived from defendant WILKES énd coconspirator
Wade;

7. On of about May 21, 1998, coconspirator Cunningham
wrote thev Chairman of the House Appropriations Subéommittée on
National Security, reduesting a total of $64 million for Document
Conversion Programs (fiscal year 1999);

8. On or about August 10, 1998, defendant WILKES
threatened a FIﬁES prégram.managef with Congressional reprisals if he
refused Jto bay ADCS—relat'ed invoices (even when it could not be
verified that the work had actually been dohe and/or goods)had
actually been purchased); |

9. On or about August 24, 1998, defendant WILKES directed
an ADCS employee to'purchase one NEC Versa Model 2780 noﬁebook
computer. costing $1,1499 forlcoconspiratof Cunningham; |

10. On or about November 18, 1998, defendant WILKES
threatened DoD's Document Converéion Program manager with
Congressional reprisal if he did not allocate sufficient funding to-

ADCS projects, and immediately pay all outstanding ADCS invoices (even

‘when it could not be verified that the work had actually been done

and/or the goods had actually been purchased);

11. Onor about.November 18, 1998, coconspirator Cunningham
contacted the Document bonversion Program manager (épbroximately 30
minutes after defendant WILKES had left the program manager’s office)
and attempted to pressure him into paying the ADCS—related'invoices;

12. In or about. late 1998 or eérly 1999, in‘Washington,
D.C., coconspirator Cunningham éalled defendant WILKES’s cellular

phone and (after the phone was handed to the FIRES program manager who

10




